RECEIVED

11-18-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP001980-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID JEROME GANT,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal to Review a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH B. SCHIEBER Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 Phone : (414) 227-2201 E-mail : schieberh@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Police seized multiple computers from Mr. Gant's home following the apparent suicide of his wife, based on a "general interest" that evidence related to her death might be found on the computers. Police never requested a warrant to search the computer for anything related to his wife's death, but nevertheless held the computers for over ten months, at which point police obtained a warrant to search one of the computers, after police obtained information suggesting that Mr. Gant may have been in possession of child pornography. Did the circuit court err in denying Mr. Gant's motion to suppress the evidence obtained from the computer seized from his home?

The circuit court denied Mr. Gant's motion to suppress following a hearing.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Gant would welcome oral argument. Publication is warranted to develop the law concerning such a lengthy delay between the seizure of evidence and police obtaining a search warrant, and the effect such a delay has on the admissibility of the evidence gathered following a subsequently-obtained warrant.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Police responded to Mr. Gant's home on the evening of September 28, 2010 after he discovered his wife hanging in their basement from an apparent suicide. $(40:26;App.109^{1})$. Police seized three computers from their home that evening, without a warrant and without Mr. Gant's consent. (40:33-34,43;App.116-17,126). Police never obtained a warrant to search the computers for anything related to his wife's death, which was confirmed as a suicide by the medical examiner within two days. (40:38-39;App.121-22). The police nevertheless kept the seized computers and denied Mr. Gant's requests to retrieve his computer. (40:78-80;App.161-63). On August 15, 2011—over ten months after police initially seized the computers-police obtained a search warrant to search Mr. Gant's computer after allegations arose that Mr. Gant may have been in possession of child pornography. (40:69;App.152).

A. Case History

The State ultimately charged Mr. Gant with ten counts of possession of child pornography, in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 948.12(1m), for files found on the computer. (2).

Mr. Gant filed a motion to suppress all evidence recovered from the computer and its hard drives. (4). Mr. Gant argued that (1) police lacked a legal basis to seize the computer in the first place; (2) the length of the seizure of the computer without a warrant was unconstitutional; and (3) the warrant obtained many months later on a basis independent from the original seizure did not remedy the illegality of the illegal seizure. (4).

The circuit court, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom presiding, denied the motion to suppress following an

¹ The names of children discussed at this hearing have been redacted from the portion of the motion hearing transcript included in the Appendix for privacy purposes.

evidentiary hearing. (40;App.104-185). Following denial of the suppression motion, Mr. Gant entered a plea: in exchange for his plea to the charges in this case, the State agreed to recommend a substantial term of imprisonment and dismiss and read in the charges in three other cases.² (41).

The circuit court subsequently sentenced Mr. Gant to ten years initial confinement followed by ten years of extended supervision on each count, with the counts running consecutively for a total length of sentence of one-hundred years initial confinement followed by one-hundred years of extended supervision. (42).

B. The Motion to Suppress Hearing

The State called five witnesses at the suppression hearing, three detectives and two officers. The defense called Mr. Gant as their sole witness.

1. Detective Matthew Goldberg

Detective Goldberg testified that he responded to Mr. Gant's home at about 9:30 pm on September 28, 2010 following Mr. Gant's wife's apparent suicide by hanging in the basement of their home. (40:25-26;App.108-09). Though it was an apparent suicide, police treated the scene like a homicide. (40:26-27;App.109-10). Detective Goldberg stated that someone else at the scene interviewed the Gant's young daughter, who told police that Mrs. Gant had been on a

² Pursuant to the agreement, the charges from the following cases were dismissed and read in: Milwaukee County Case Numbers 10-CF-5472 (one count of exposing genitals, in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 948.10(1)), 10-CF-5473 (one count of battery to law enforcement officer in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 940.20(2) and one count of resisting/obstructing an officer in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 946.41(1), and 11-CF-3442 (one count of first degree sexual assault of a child in violation of Wisconsin Statute Section § 948.02(1)(b) and one count of felony bail jumping in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 946.49(1)(b)). (41).

computer prior to her death. (40:27-31;App.110-14). However, Detective Goldberg clarified on cross examination that their daughter had simply told police that her mother had been playing a "Dora computer game," and that it was unclear at what point or on which computer in the house her mother had done so. (40:35-36;App.118-19). Detective Goldberg acknowledged that the statement by their daughter had nothing to do with the police's seizure of the computers. (40:36;App.119).

Detective Goldberg further explained that in a case of apparent suicide, he looks for computers at the scene since the police "frequently...find notes that are on the computer." (40:31;App.114). He testified that police found multiple computers at the home: "I think, two computers were in the basement and there was another computer upstairs, and there were two or three separate hard drives as well, but I don't remember where they were." (40:31;App.114). Detective Goldberg testified that, later that evening, possibly after midnight, he "confiscated the computers and conveyed them to the Police Administration Building" and "placed them on inventory," including the computers in the basement. (40:31,33-34;App.114,116-17).

When the State asked Detective Goldberg whether the computers in the basement would "have any special interest" to him, the detective answered: "None of any special interest to me. Just a general interest in a case there was [sic] a suicide note or other evidence on the computer." (40:31;App.114).

He testified that, when seized from a scene, computers are stored in the police warehouse and that "if it's determined necessary, we'll try and obtain consent to search the computer, barring—or if we're unable to obtain consent, then someone would offer a search warrant to search the computers." (40:32;App.115). When asked whether, to his knowledge, anyone in his department attempted to get a search warrant to view the computer to look for a suicide note, he answered: "I assume a warrant was written, but I didn't have any part of that investigation, that part of it." (40:37;App.120). He further explained that he was told that there was a search warrant written, but did not know whether it was specifically to look for a suicide note. (40:37;App.120). He testified that he "assumed" that the warrant issued in August of 2011 was the warrant he was told about. (40:37;App.120).

Detective Goldberg acknowledged that police needed probable cause to seize a computer, and testified that here he believed the probable cause would have been to look for a suicide note; however, he did not know what if anything was done to actually look for a suicide note. (40:38;App.121).

He further acknowledged that Mrs. Gant's death was ruled a suicide by the medical examiner within a day or two. (40:38-39;App.121-22). He testified that he believed that the investigation of her death continued even after her death was ruled a suicide. (40:40;App.123). He also testified, however, that someone would have had to ask the "high tech unit" to search the computer, and that to his knowledge, no one asked them to do so prior to August of 2011. (40:44;App.127).

Detective Goldberg explained that he did not talk with Mr. Gant and did not remember whether he spoke with another detective about whether Mr. Gant had given consent to search the computers. (40:36;App.119).The State, through Detective Goldberg, read into the record a consent form signed by Mr. Gant which provided police with consent to search the house, car, and his cell phone, but *not* the computers: "The part that says 'My personal computers, electronic storage devices, peripheral data storage devices, manuals, books, or any other related materials to include an examination of any data stored,' that's crossed out. And it says, 'No consent on computers, '" (40:43;App.126).

2. Officer Deborah Kranz

The circuit court took judicial notice of the complaint issued in Milwaukee County Case Number 10-CF-5472, signed on October 31, 2010, which alleged that Mr. Gant, on or about October 23, 2010, exposed his genitals to a child at his home. (40:44-45;App.127-28). The circuit court also took judicial notice of the complaint filed in Milwaukee County Case Number 11-CF-3442, signed for filing on July 25, 2011, alleging first-degree sexual assault of a child on or about July 19, 2011, at another address. (40:51;App.134).

Officer Kranz testified that she was involved in investigating allegations that occurred on or about October 23, 2010. (40:45; App.128). She testified that after that investigation, police received information from the Bureau of Child Welfare that Jason Gant, Mr. Gant's brother, had reported that Mr. Gant had admitted to molesting his children. (40:46-47;App.129-130). Officer Kranz testified that she spoke with Jason Gant on April 5, 2011 and that he reported that Mr. Gant had, four or five months earlier, indicated to him that he had been feeling guilty and that "it came down to molesting his kids." (40:48,54,58;App.131,137,141).³ She also testified that Jason Gant indicated that Mr. Gant had made a comment about having child pornography on his computer. (40:49;App.132).⁴ Officer Kranz testified that Jason Gant told her that Mr. Gant sounded "completely out of it" when they had this conversation, and that his brother had a history of smoking marijuana and mental instability. (40:58;App.141).

³ Officer Kranz originally testified that the conversation occurred in March of 2011 but subsequently acknowledged that her report reflected that the conversation took place on April 5, 2011. (40:48;54;App.131,137).

⁴ On cross, Officer Kranz acknowledged that the manner in which her report was written could be interpreted to reflect Mr. Gant saying that there was child pornography on his brother's computer. (40:56;App.139).

Officer Kranz stated that she then checked the reports and discovered that police had computers related to the death of Mrs. Gant and did "pass along" the information that there may be child pornography on the computers. (40:50;App.133). However, on cross she acknowledged that she did not direct anyone to search the computer at that point, nor did she see any documentation reflecting that any forms were filled out to search the computer. (40:57-59;App.140-42).

Officer Kranz testified that she spoke with Mrs. Gant's mother on August 1, 2011. (40:50-51;App.133-34). She further testified that at this point police were also investigating the allegation of sexual assault of a child. (40:51-52;App.134-35). She explained that Mrs. Gant's mother informed her that she had used Mrs. Gant's computer, and that the computer had crashed. (40:51;App.134). According to Mrs. Gant's mother, she found a case with discs in them and that "several of them were marked data," so she put one of the discs in the computer thinking it would help restore the computer. (40:51;App.134). She said she got these discs going through the basement of the Gant home, and that she found the discs in "the half of the basement that belonged to David." (40:52;App.135). She said that when she put the disc in the computer "it popped up and there was a young child giving an adult man oral sex." (40:53;App.136). Officer Kranz testified that Officer Jody Young then picked up the discs from Mrs. Gant's mother on August 3rd. (40:53;App.136).

3. Officer Jody Young

Officer Young testified that she picked up 17 discs in a case from Mrs. Gant's mother on August 3, 2011 and turned them over to Officer Kranz. (40:60-61;App.143-44). She further testified that she was also involved in an investigation involving a child in late July, and was aware that Officer Kranz had earlier been involved in investigating a different case with a different child which also allegedly involved Mr.

Gant. (40:63;App.146). Officer Young testified that receiving DVDs which may contain child pornography was significant because "with sexual assault cases, unfortunately, sometimes pornography or child pornography is involved." (40:64;App.147). Officer Young testified that though she was not involved in doing so, police at that point applied for a search warrant for the previously-seized computer (40:64-65;App.147-48).

4. Detective Richard McQuown

Detective McQuown testified that he was provided a copy of the search warrant (which was admitted into evidence as Exhibit 2). (40:68-69;App.151-52). He testified that the search warrant affidavit and search warrant itself were both signed on August 15, 2011. (40:69;App.152). He testified that the search warrant authorized the search of the discs as well as an Antec computer tower, recovered from under the stairs in the basement of the Gant residence. (40:68-70;App.151-53).

5. Detective Dawn Jones

Detective Jones testified that she prepared the warrant to search the property taken from Mr. Gant on September 28, 2010 as well as the subsequently-obtained discs. (40:73;App.156). She testified that when seeking the search warrant, police were not looking for a suicide note. (40:74;App.157). She explained that she first became aware of the allegations and involved with this matter on July 29th, 2011, and that she then reviewed the reports and told Officer Kranz that "everything was on inventory with MPD, that we would be able to apply for the search warrant." (40:76;App.159).

6. Mr. Gant

Mr. Gant testified that approximately one to three weeks after the computers were taken from his home, he and

his brother-in-law, Michael Yager, went to the police department: "the Administration Building. I believe First District is what I call it," which he believed was located on "8th and State." (40:78-80;App.161-63). He testified that when they parked and walked in, the police officer by the metal detectors asked them what they wanted: "we explained that we were there to retrieve property from—that was taken from the house during my wife's sudden death investigation." (40:79;App.162). He testified that the officer called and talked to a detective, "and he said that they said that we couldn't get it yet, get any of the property yet." (40:79;App.162). Mr. Gant testified that he then again went to the same place in February of 2011 and "received the same statement." (40:79-80;App.162-63).

On cross, he explained that when he went to the police department with his brother-in-law, they were not provided a reason why they could not get the property back. (40:81;App.164). Mr. Gant acknowledged that when he returned in February 2011, he at that point had been charged with exposing genitals to a minor. (40:81-82;App.164-65). Mr. Gant denied having a conversation with his brother relating to "matters that" he "felt guilty about." (40:83;App.166).

Mr. Gant also acknowledged that the computer underneath the basement stairs was his computer. (40:84;App.167). Mr. Gant also stated that he was aware that his brother-in-law, who had been living in the basement of Mr. Gant's home, was able to retrieve property that belonged to him (Mr. Gant's brother-in-law) in November of 2010. (40:84-85;App.167-68).

The State asked Mr. Gant where his wife hanged herself in relation to the location of the computer under the stairs

[T]he stairs themselves and underneath the stairs would be the west central area of the basement between north and south, and then she was hanging south and then between east and west. So it would be, I don't know, basically, like an L-shape away from each other because you had the stairs to go around and then all the way over by the washer and dryer and the utility sink.

(40:85;App.168). Mr. Gant testified that after finding his wife he moved her to her brother's bed on the northeast side of the basement, closer to the computer under the stairs. (40:87;App.170).

Mr. Gant testified that the property was taken before he returned to the house after being taken to the police station for questioning, at which point he stated police handed him a document to sign and he refused to give consent to search the computers. (40:82,88;App.165-171).

7. The Circuit Court's Fact-Findings and Conclusions of Law

The circuit court made the following fact-findings concerning the officers at the scene:

So the officers are called to the scene, there is a dead woman. The Defendant claims she hung herself. The officers don't know if she hung herself. She's no longer hanging. She's laying on a bed, and the Defendant claims that she was—hung herself elsewhere in the basement, that he took her down and moved her to a bed. The officers are required as investigators as serious crime not necessarily to take Mr. Gant's word for it, but to treat it as a homicide investigation, and that is indeed what the first witness testified they did.

(40:97-98;App.180-81). The court noted that "the computers were in plain view. There's no dispute about that." (40:98;App.181).

The circuit court held that police had probable cause to seize the computers based on potential evidence on the computers:

I don't think it's unreasonable for the officers to assume that the computers may have relevant information to their investigation. For example, a suicide note, which is what the original witness testified to. That was important information because it could potentially exonerate Mr. Gant from a potential homicide.

On the contrary, it could be evidence for an assisted suicide. And in addition, I think that—strike that. So there's—there's probable cause to consider that there is potentially evidence relevant to a crime, sitting there in front of them, and so they seized it.

(40:98;App.181).

The court further held that "[t]here's no case law that says there's sort of a time constraint that they immediately need to apply for a warrant and immediately need to view what's on the computer." (40:99;App.182).

The circuit court made further fact-findings with regard to the subsequent series of events:

Then the Defendant comes roughly a week or two or three, we don't know exactly when, to the Administration Building with Mr. Yager, and he wants those computers back, but the investigation of a very serious event is ongoing, and he is told this information—these items cannot yet be released.

Very quickly thereafter, within less than a month of the suicide, it is alleged that Mr. Gant commits the first crime, the exposure, and almost exactly a month after the seizure of the computer, that investigation has gotten so far developed that the State believes there's probable cause to charge the Defendant with a crime. And on October 31st, he is, in fact, charged with that exposure count.

So now, all of a sudden, the landscape has changed. I don't think anyone could argue that in a case of alleged exposure of an adult man's penis to a very young child, a computer would not potentially have relevant information associated with that. After that, in February, the Defendant goes back to get his computer again, but at that point, he's already been charged with a child sexual abuse crime and is denied.

By April of 2011, there's this conversation with Jason Gant that the officers—this team of officers receives and reacts to, and again, I think it's important to remember the different units, the different officers, the way they work together, the high tech unit separate from the homicide unit, separate from a Sensitive Crimes unit, separate from officers that are on the street. They're allowed to rely on each other, but as a practical matter, these things don't happen at lightening speed.

(40:99-100;App.182-83).

The circuit court held that the computer was "legally seized" at the time police confiscated it. (40:97;App.180). The court further held that the amount of time the computer was held was not unreasonable because "in pretty rapid fashion, while the investigation of the original suicide potential homicide, potential assisted suicide was going on, there was very significant information coming in about Mr. Gant." (40:100-01;App.183-184). The court further noted that police "didn't just open up the computer and read it," but that they ultimately obtained a warrant. (40:101;App.184). The court concluded that the actions of the police were reasonable and denied the motion. (40:97-101;App.180-184).

Mr. Gant subsequently filed a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief and notice of appeal, and now appeals the circuit court's decision denying his motion to suppress.⁵

 $^{^{5}}$ A defendant may appeal an order denying a suppression motion despite a guilty plea. Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

ARGUMENT

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