#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### 02-05-2015

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP1980-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID JEROME GANT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING.

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Did the circuit court properly deny Gant's motion to suppress child pornography that police seized pursuant to a search warrant for child pornography where the warrant was issued months after the police had seized Gant's computer from his residence while investigating his spouse's apparent suicide?

Answer: Yes. The circuit court concluded that the police had probable cause to seize Gant's computer (40:98). Further, it found that the amount of time that the police held the computer was not unreasonable and held that no law required the police to immediately apply for a warrant to immediately search it (40:99-100). Finally, because the police did not search the computer until they obtained a warrant, their actions were reasonable. The circuit court denied Gant's motion to suppress the evidence (40:101).

### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

The State believes that neither oral argument nor publication is necessary. The parties have fully developed the arguments in their briefs and the issues presented involve the application of well-settled legal principles to the facts.

#### SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The state will supplement the statement of the facts and case as appropriate in its argument.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Even if officers improperly seized or retained Gant's computer, the circuit court properly denied Gant's motion to suppress the child pornography obtained from Gant's computer pursuant to search warrant that stated probable cause.

#### A. Introduction.

Gant claims that the police lacked probable cause to seize his computer without a warrant during the investigation of his wife's apparent suicide. Gant's brief at 14-16. Even if the seizure was lawful, Gant contends that the detention became unlawful through the failure of the police to timely secure a warrant to search it. Gant's brief at 16-22. Consequently, Gant argues that the circuit court should have suppressed the child pornography seized from his computer through an otherwise valid search warrant. Gant's brief at 22-24.

The State's position is that the officers had probable cause to seize the computers that were in plain view when they responded to Gant's call for assistance to his home following his discovery of his spouse's death. Officers reasonably inventoried the computers and secured them. While Gant may have requested the return of the computers, he did not pursue his statutory remedies for securing their return. Even if the delay in obtaining the search warrant resulted in an unreasonable seizure of Gant's property, exclusion of the child pornography is not an appropriate remedy. The police did not search the computer until they obtained a search warrant based upon an independent source, *i.e.*, a source independent of the basis for the original seizure. In addition, the connection between any unreasonable delay in searching the computer and

the subsequent search of the computer is sufficiently attenuated to dissipate any taint from any allegedly unlawful seizure.

#### B. Constitutional provisions interpreted.

The Fourth Amendment to the United **States** Constitution and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has historically interpreted article I, § 11 and its protections against unreasonable searches and seizures in a manner consistent with the United States Supreme Court's interpretations of the Fourth Amendment. State v. Felix, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 38, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775 (finding no reason "to depart from our customary practice of interpreting Article I, Section 11 in accord with the Fourth Amendment").

#### C. Standard of review.

Whether police conduct violates the guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures presents a question of constitutional fact. On review, appellate an court independently reviews questions of constitutional facts. But an appellate court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 17, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369. "A finding is clearly erroneous if 'it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." State v. Arias, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 12, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748 (citations omitted).

### D. Officers had probable cause to seize Gant's computers following his wife's apparent suicide.

### 1. General legal principles related to probable cause and plain view.

To establish probable cause to search, the State must show a "fair probability" that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 26, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Courts evaluate the existence of probable cause objectively and based upon the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* ¶¶ 26-27. While officers may not always act correctly, they must act reasonably. *Id.* ¶ 26. A probable cause determination may be based not only on the arresting officer's knowledge, but also on the collective knowledge of the officer's entire department. *See State v. Kutz*, 2003 WI App 205, ¶ 12, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 671 N.W.2d 660.

"[U]nder the 'plain view' doctrine, an object falling within the plain view of an officer who rightfully is in a position to have that view is subject to valid seizure and may be introduced into evidence." *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 21, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1. The plain view doctrine applies if the following three conditions are met:

(1) the evidence must be in plain view; (2) the officer must have a prior justification for being in the position from which she discovers the evidence in "plain view"; and (3) the evidence seized 'in itself or in itself with facts known to the officer at the time of the seizure, [must provide] probable cause to believe there is a connection between the evidence and criminal activity.'

State v. Buchanan, 2011 WI 49, ¶ 23, 334 Wis. 2d 379, 799 N.W.2d 775 (quotation marks and quoted sources omitted; alteration in *Buchanan*).

### 2. Officers had probable cause to seize the computers from Gant's residence.

Based upon the totality of the circumstances, officers had probable cause to seize the computers. On September 28, 2010, Gant called the police to his Milwaukee home after he found his wife Crystal Gant hanging by her neck from a cable suspended from an I-beam in the basement (4:1). Before anyone arrived, Gant moved her body to her brother's bed, which was "closer to" the seized computer (40:87-88). Milwaukee Police Detective Matthew Goldberg arrived at the scene and observed Crystal Gant on a bed with a piece of coaxial cable around her neck (40:26). Under the Milwaukee Police Department's procedures, officers investigate a potential suicide in the same manner that they would investigate a homicide in case the death, in fact, resulted from a homicide (40:26).

Officers seized several items of evidence including two computers from the basement, a computer upstairs, and two or three hard drives (40:31; 43:13-14). Detective Goldberg stated that he had an interest in the computers in case the computer contained a suicide note or other evidence (40:31). Crystal Gant's daughter informed officers that Crystal Gant had been using a computer sometime prior to her mother's death (40:30, 35). At the time the computer was seized, Detective Goldberg was unaware of the daughter's statement regarding the computer (40:34).

Officers subsequently sought Gant's consent to search his residence along with items of personal property, including the computers (40:42-43). Gant executed a consent search form for his property but expressly declined to consent to a search of his computers (40:43).

Here, Gant consented to law enforcement's entry into his residence when he summoned first responders to his residence following his discovery of Crystal Gant's body. Crystal Gant had apparently died by unnatural and violent means, *i.e.*, hanging. Gant had moved her body prior to the arrival of the police. The officers were not required to accept Gant's word that Crystal hanged herself. Under the circumstances, the circuit court noted that the officers reasonably treated Crystal Gant's death as a potential homicide investigation (40:97-98). Even if Crystal Gant had committed suicide, Gant could still be responsible for the crime of assisted suicide (40:98).

The circuit court found that the officers observed the computers in plain view (40:98). The computer in question was found in the basement, near the room where Gant placed Crystal Gant's body (40:85, 88). While Detective Goldberg may have been unaware of Gant's daughter's statement regarding Crystal Gant's recent computer use, this information was within the department's collective knowledge and supports the officers' probable cause basis to seize the computers. Further, because the computers may have contained information relevant to their investigation, such as a suicide note, that could have a bearing on whether Crystal Gant's death was a suicide or a homicide, the officers acted reasonably in seizing them (40:98). Prior case law demonstrates that a seized computer's Internet browsing history may provide relevant information that supports a homicide prosecution and undermines a defendant's claim that the victim committed suicide. See State v. Jensen, 2011 WI App 3, ¶¶ 37 and 93, 331 Wis. 2d 440, 794 N.W.2d 482 ("[I]n this age of modern technology, persons have increasingly become more reliant on computers not only to store information, but also to communicate with others."). Based upon the totality of the circumstances, a fair probability existed that evidence related to Crystal Gant's unnatural and violent death was on the computers. The circuit court

appropriately concluded that the officers' seizure of the computers was reasonable (40:98).

# E. The police department's continued retention of Gant's property did not violate Gant's Fourth Amendment rights.

Over ten months elapsed between the computer's original seizure on September 28 or 29, 2010, and the issuance of the search warrant for child pornography on August 15, 2011 (40:26, 33, 69). Gant asserts that the "case law makes clear that police *cannot* keep such an item, seized without a warrant, indefinitely, without any effort to obtain a warrant to search it." Gant's brief at 16.

The State disagrees. On a regular basis, officers lawfully seize property during investigations, both with and without search warrants. Officers then inventory the seized property and secure it for safekeeping. An individual may seek the return of his or her seized property pursuant to established statutory procedures.

Courts have long recognized the police interests in securing seized property.

These procedures developed in response to three distinct needs: the protection of the owner's property while it remains in police custody; the protection [of] the police against claims or disputes over lost or stolen property; and the protection of the police from potential danger.

South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 369 (1976) (citations omitted). The inventory search is a recognized exception to the exclusionary rule. The police may inventory property that comes into its possession following an arrest, impoundment or by some other lawful means. State v. Weide, 155 Wis. 2d 537, 548, 455 N.W.2d 899 (1990). The reasonableness of a police

inventory must be based on the facts and circumstances of each case. *State v. Callaway*, 106 Wis. 2d 503, 511, 317 N.W.2d 428 (1982). The analysis is a two-step inquiry, involving first the reasonableness of the seizure of the property in the first instance and then the reasonableness of the scope of its subsequent search. *State v. Weber*, 163 Wis. 2d 116, 132-33, 471 N.W.2d 187 (1991). Finally, even property properly secured on police inventory is not insulated from a subsequent investigative search or seizure. *State v. Betterley*, 191 Wis. 2d 406, 423, 529 N.W.2d 216 (1995) (officers seized jewelry from inmate's property without a warrant after realizing it may have constituted evidence of a crime).

agencies, including the Milwaukee Department, have adopted policies regulating the safeguard and return of property. Wisconsin Stat. § 968.20 provides a procedural mechanism that persons like Gant may follow to secure the return of seized property from law enforcement custody when a police agency declines to return it. Milwaukee County Circuit Court has adopted procedures to facilitate the return of this property. *See* Milwaukee Co. Cir. Ct. Rules, CR 4.6 (<a href="http://county.milwaukee.gov/ImageLibrary/Gro">http://county.milwaukee.gov/ImageLibrary/Gro</a> ups/cntyCourts/documents/lrgencivcrimfam4152010.pdf) viewed January 8, 2015). The Milwaukee County Clerk of Court makes forms available to individuals seeking the return property under Wis. Stat. 968.20. (http://county.milwaukee.gov/ImageLibrary/Groups/cntyCourt s/documents/PetitionforReturnofPropertyFor.pdf) (last viewed January 8, 2015).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, e.g., Milwaukee Police Department Standard Operating Procedure, 560--Property, General Order 2014-95 (<a href="http://city.milwaukee.gov/ImageLibrary/Groups/mpdAuthors/SOP/560-PROPERTY.pdf">http://city.milwaukee.gov/ImageLibrary/Groups/mpdAuthors/SOP/560-PROPERTY.pdf</a>) (last viewed February 2, 2015).

Here, Detective Goldberg seized the computers in question along with several items and placed them on Milwaukee Police Department property inventory assigned number 1531685 (4:1-2). Detective Goldberg stated that the computers are then stored in a warehouse, to be searched later with proper consent or a search warrant (40:32).

At the hearing, Gant testified that he went to the police department to obtain the return of his computers on two occasions. The first was approximately one week after Crystal Gant's death (40:78). Officers told Gant that he could not get the property back at that time (40:79). On a second occasion, in February 2011, Gant returned to the police station and was again denied return of the property (40:79-80). By this time, Gant had been charged with exposing his genitals to a minor (40:82).

After the police department declined to return his property, Gant did not bring a motion for its return under Wis. Stat. § 968.20 (40:94). This is a remedy that Gant recognizes is available to persons whose property the police have seized. Gant's brief at 24. During the period that the police department retained Gant's property, the officers did not attempt to exploit an evidentiary benefit from its possession without first obtaining a warrant. Any harm to Gant from the police department's continued retention of the property was minimal. Under the circumstances, the police department's retention of Gant's property at the police department is constitutionally reasonable.

In support of Gant's position that the police unlawfully detained his computers, Gant relies upon *United States v. Place*, 462 U.S. 696 (1983). In *Place*, the court concluded that the detention of a traveler's luggage exceeded the narrow authority of police to detain the luggage based on reasonable suspicion to suspect it contains narcotics. *Id.* at 710. The seizure in Gant's

case is different as the circuit court found it rested on probable cause (40:98), rather than the lower reasonable suspicion standard in *Place*.

Gant also relies upon *United States v. Burgard*, 675 F.3d 1029 (7th Cir. 2012), which recognizes that a delay between the seizure of property and its subsequent search may become constitutionally unreasonable. In *Burgard*, the court considered several factors in determining whether a delay in obtaining a warrant was unreasonable. These factors include (a) the strength of the basis for the initial seizure; (b) whether a party ever asserted a possessory claim to it; (c) whether the police acted diligently in pursuing the investigation. *Id.* at 1033-34.

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